IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 20-0617
)
 KENNETH LEE LILLY,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR NORTH LEE COUNTY
HONORABLE MARY ANN BROWN, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

SHELLIE L. KNIPFER
Assistant Appellate Defender
sknipfer@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether Lilly's jury pool was more than 1 standard deviation from the expected number of African Americans in the jury pool, therefore, he established the second prong of the Plain/Duren test for determining whether there was a fair cross-section of the community in his jury pool?

Authorities

State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293, 298 (Iowa 2019)

Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 822 (Iowa 2017)

Berghuis v. Smith, 559 U.S. 314, 324 n.1 (2010)

1. Lee County

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 630 (Iowa 2019)

2. Lee County minus city of Keokuk

No Authorities

II. Whether the jury selection process disproportionately excludes lower income populations which results in the systematic exclusion of African Americans from jury pools, thereby, establishing the third prong of the Duren/Pain test?

Authorities

State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293, 298 (Iowa 2019)

Iowa Code § 607A.22(1) (2017)

People v. Harris, 679 P.2d 433, 446 (Cal. 1984)

Paula Hannaford-Agor, Systematic Discrimination in Jury Operations: Why the Definition of Systematic Exclusion in Fair Cross Section Claims Must be Expanded, 59 Drake L. Rev. 761 (Spring 2011)

Nina W. Chernoff, Black to the Future: The State Action Doctrine and the White Jury, 58 Washburn L.J. 103 (2019)

Iowa Code section 607A.22 (2017)

Nina W. Chernoff, No Records, No Right: Discovery & the Fair Cross-Section Guarantee, 101 Iowa L. Rev. 1719, 1725-29 (July 2016)

Juries: Last Week Tonight with John Oliver (Aug. 16, 2020)
<https://www.dailymotion.com/video/x7vmkoo>

State v. Williams, 929 N.W.2d 621, 630 (Iowa 2019)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issue raised involves a matter on remand from this court regarding the determination of whether Lilly's jury pool was a fair cross section of the community.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by the Defendant-Appellant, Kenneth Lee Lilly, from the trial court's ruling on remand regarding whether he had proven the jury pool was no a fair cross section of the community. The Honorable Mary Ann Brown presided in North Lee County District Court.

Course of Proceedings in the District Court: This court held that the test for determining whether a jury pool is fair and reasonable is whether it is one or more standard deviation below its percentage in overall population of eligible jurors. State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d 293, 304 (Iowa 2019). The court remanded the matter for the parties to further

development of the evidence. Id. at 308.

A hearing was held January 23, 2020. (Remand Hearing tr. p.1). Prior to the hearing each party filed briefs in support of his position. (Brief: Calculations & Prong #2 Analysis, 1/21/20; Defendant's Remand Brief, 1/22/20)(App. pp. 63-98). However, the State substantially changed its argument at the hearing by asserting the calculations should also subtract the relevant populations of the city of Keokuk to prove a closer estimate of the population of North Lee County. (Remand Hearing tr p.11 L.3-p.15 L.15, p.86 L.3-89 L.7).

The district court agreed with the State regarding subtracting the relevant populations of the city of Keokuk. (Ruling, pp.6-7, 4/7/20)(App. pp. 202-203). The court went on to find that the number of African Americans in the jury pool was within one standard deviation. (Ruling, p.7)(App. p. 203). Therefore, Lilly's challenge failed under the second prong of the Duren/Plain three prong test. (Ruling, p.7)(App. p. 203). The district court also went on to find that Lilly did

not prove system discrimination in the manner that jury panels were drawn. (Ruling, pp.7-9)(App. pp. 203-205).

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (Notice, 4/8/20) (App. p. 207).

Facts: Any facts relevant to the appeal will be discussed in the argument below.

ARGUMENT

I. Lilly's jury pool was more than 1 standard deviation from the expected number of African Americans in the jury pool, therefore, he established the second prong of the Plain/Duren test for determining whether there was a fair cross-section of the community in his jury pool.

Preservation of Error: Error was preserved by Lilly's argument that the number of African Americans in the jury pool over five years was below more than one standard deviation and the trial court's ruling finding the number African Americans was within one standard deviation of the expected number. (Defendant's Remand Brief, 1/22/20;

1/23/20 tr.¹ p.5 L.14-p.7 L.14, p.52 L.8-p.56 L.16, 58 L.9-p.59 L.21; Ruling, pp. 3-7, 4/7/20)(App. pp. 85-98, 199-203).

Scope of Review: Lilly argues his jury panel was not a fair cross-section of the community as required by the federal and state constitutions. Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 298.

Merits: Lilly was denied his State constitutional right to his jury pool be a fair cross-section of the community. No African Americans served on Lilly’s panel and no African Americans were in the jury pool. Id. at 299; (Tr. p.30 L.6-9). Analyzing the past five years of jury pools for the district and applying Lilly, Lilly has shown that African Americans represent a standard deviation of greater than one.

A. Background.

In Lilly this court expanded on its analysis and holding in State v. Plain, where the court adopted the Duren v. Missouri three-part test for determining whether there was a violation of

¹ Hereinafter simply referred to as “Tr.”

the fair cross-section requirement. Lilly, 903 N.W.2d at 299-308; see Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357 (1979); State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 822 (Iowa 2017). Under the Plain/Duren test a prima facie violation of the fair cross-section is established upon a showing:

- (1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a “distinctive” group in the community;
- (2) that the representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the community; and
- (3) that this underrepresentation is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury-selection process.

Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 299 (quoting Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 821-822 (quoting Duren, 439 U.S. at 364, 367-68 (1979))). To prove the second prong the court, Plain held the parties could use multiple analytic models: absolute disparity, comparative disparity, or standard deviation. Plain, 898 N.W.2d at 827.

Lilly rejected this fluid approach in favor of only using standard deviation. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 302. The court concluded that absolute disparity and comparative disparity

were not acceptable statistical methods for the task at hand.

Id. “[S]tandard deviation analysis appears to get at the heart of the matter – i.e., ‘the probability that the disparity between a group’s jury-eligible population and the group’s percentage in the qualified jury pool is attributable to random chance.’”

Id. (quoting Berghuis v. Smith, 559 U.S. 314, 324 n.1 (2010)).

Under the Iowa Constitution, article 1, section 10, this court held the second prong of Duren/Plain is met where there is one standard deviation “—in other words, the percentage of the group in the jury pool must be one standard deviation or more below its percentage in the overall population of eligible jurors.” Id. at 304.

This court instructed the parties use the most current census data available that reflects people eligible for jury service. Id. Thus, people eighteen or older and people not incarcerated. Id. at 304-05. This court also instructed defendants may use a statistically significant sample by including earlier jury pools, as opposed to only the current

jury pool. Id. at 305. The court did not set outer limits on the aggregation since it was not raised by the parties in the initial briefing. Id. at 305 n.7.

B. Standard deviation for known race populations.

The first step is determining the percentage of eligible African American jurors in Lee County. As noted in Lilly, the parties need to deduct from the total populations in question the number of ineligible persons such as those under 18 years of age and incarcerated persons. Another ineligible population that was not discussed in Lilly is non-citizens 18 years and older. After subtracting the non-eligible populations from the total population of all races and the total population of African Americans, then divide the eligible African American population by the eligible total population to determine the expected percentage of African Americans summoned for jury service.

1. Lee County

Total pop. Lee County	34,785	(Def. B-2)
Minus under 18 (3880+3644)	<u>- 7,524</u>	(Def. B-2)
	27,261	
Minus prison pop. Ft. Madison	<u>- 700</u>	(Def. C)
	26,561	
Minus non-citizens 18 & over	<u>- 133</u>	(Def. B-2)
Eligible voters Lee County	26,428 ²	
Total pop. AA Lee County	872	(Def. B-3)
Minus under 18 AA (75+91)	<u>- 166</u>	(Def. B-3)
	706	
Minus prison pop. Ft. Madison	<u>- 283</u>	(Def. C)
	423	
Minus AA non-citizens 18 & over	<u>- 0</u>	(Def. B-2)
Eligible AA voters Lee County	423	
Percentage (423/26428)	.0160	%

(Defs. B-2 (total pop.), B-3 (African American pop.))(App. pp. 104-107).

² Trial counsel calculated the total eligible population by just using race charts for each specific race. (Def. B-3 (African American population), Defs. B-5 (Native American population), B-6 (Asian population), B-7 (some other race alone population), B-8 (Hispanic population), B-9 (white population))(App. pp. 106-117). On appeal appellate counsel used the Total population chart to calculate the eligible voters. (Def. B-2 (Total population))(App. pp. 104-105). The differences were miniscule.

Turning to the Race Report created by the jury manager and looking at the “Total” column that represents all jurors who answered the questionnaires, there were 1939 people for known races. (Attachment H (race report))(App. pp. 163-192). One would expect there to be 31 African Americans in the Total column, but instead only 14 African Americans answered the questionnaires ($1939 \times .016 = 31.024$). The standard deviation is the square root of 1939 times .016 times .984 ($\sqrt{N \text{ people} \times \text{percentage} \times (1 - (1 \times \text{percentage}))}$), which is 5.52. (Attachment H (race report))(App. pp. 163-192). So 5.52 is one standard deviation from the expected number of 31.024 African American jurors which is 25.504. Instead, there were only 14 African American in the Total column – almost two whole standard deviations below the one standard deviation.

Looking at the “Response” column that represents people who actually appeared in court for jury duty, there was a total

of 1573 of all known races.³ (Attachment H (race report))(App. pp. 163-192); (Tr. p.49 L.16-20). Over five years only 10 people claimed to be African American. One would have expected 25.168 African Americans (1573 x .016). The standard deviation is the square root of 1573 times .016 times .984 to equal 4.976 ($\sqrt{(N \text{ people} \times \text{percentage} \times (1 - (1 \times \text{percentage})))}$). One standard deviation from 25.168 (mean/expected value) equals 20.192. Again, only 10 African Americans appearing for the jury pool results in a standard deviation well beyond one.

Thus, both the Total columns and the Response columns reveal of a standard deviation of more than one deviation from

³ This court has explained circumstances when a dismissed juror should not be counted. In State v. Williams an African American juror was pre-excused from even coming to the court house. 929 N.W.2d 621, 630 (Iowa 2019). Under the Iowa Constitution a policy or practice relating to excusing jurors might amount to systematic exclusion. Id. “If a defendant wishes to try to prove that it does, the defendant should not be foreclosed from doing so by a rigid rule that calculates the pool based upon who was summoned, rather than who actually appeared.” Id.

the expected value, satisfying the second prong of the requirements under Duren/Plain as modified by Lilly.

2. Lee County minus city of Keokuk

Lilly was tried in Lee County which has the quirk of being divided into North and South Lee County. However, the population maps do not discern between the populations of North and South Lee County. There is a population chart for the city of Keokuk in South Lee County. (Attachment K (Keokuk population tables))(App. pp. 193-196). The State argued that the court should deduct the specified populations of the city of Keokuk in South Lee County to better estimate the populations in North Lee County. Lilly submits that such calculation would be too arbitrary and skewed. Assuming a greater number of African American live in the urban areas such a Keokuk, the State's proposal fails to account for the higher population of whites in the rural areas. The State offered to double the percentage of African Americans but that is still an arbitrary number without any basis.

II. The jury selection process disproportionately excludes lower income populations which results in the systematic exclusion of African Americans from jury pools, thereby, establishing the third prong of the Duren/Pain test.

Preservation of Error: The defendant preserved error by arguing there was systematic exclusion and the court's denial thereof. (Defendant's Remand Brief, pp. 9-14; Tr. p.6 L.3-p.9 L.2, p.61 L.20-p.73 L.12)(App. pp. 93-98).

Scope of Review: Lilly argues his jury panel was not a fair cross-section of the community as required by the federal and state constitutions. Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo. State v. Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 298.

Merits: The practice of using limited sets of master lists, specifically the lists of registered voters, driver's licenses, and nonoperator identification, is leaving out certain minority races such as African Americans in Lee County. African Americans in Lee County fall disproportionately in the lower income range which results in them not participating in the jury pools. The cause of the problem lies in the economics of

certain minority populations that leads to them being under represented in the jury pools. It becomes mismanagement when the courts and jury managers fail to address the problem even though they are aware of it.

It has been the practice of the district courts to solely use the lists provided by the Supreme Court Clerk's Office in Des Moines. The North Lee County clerk types in the desired number for a two-month jury pool and the program produces a list of North Lee County residents for the jury pool.

(9/22/17 tr. p.5 L.3-19). The names are drawn from lists of voter registrations and the department of transportation's driver's licenses and nonoperator's licenses. (9/22/17 tr. p.7 L.4-8, p.17 L.19-24, p.24 L.17-22). See Iowa Code § 607A.22(1) (as amended 2017). The problem, however, is that these lists result in underrepresentation of African Americans in defendants' jury pools.

Voter registration rolls typically underrepresent African-Americans and Latinos. Unrepresentative source lists mean that the jury selection system is unrepresentative from the start, and subsequent

stages of the jury selection process each reflect the initial racial and ethnic underrepresentation.

Nina W. Chernoff, Black to the Future: The State Action Doctrine and the White Jury, 58 Washburn L.J. 103 (2019).

This court in Lilly held that “jury management practice can amount to systematic exclusion for purposes of [the Iowa Constitution] article 1, section 10.” Lilly, 930 N.W.2d at 307. But the defendant must prove that the management practice *caused* systematic representation. Id. at 308. “[R]un-of-the-mill jury management practices such as the updating of address lists, the granting of excuses, and the enforcement of jury summons can support a systematic exclusion claim where the evidence shows one or more of those practices have produced underrepresentation of a minority group.” Id.

In order to show causation of systematic discrimination, trial counsel looked for commonality between different racial groups and their participation in the jury pools. Using Lee County census population charts, trial counsel determined the standard deviations for African Americans, Hispanics, Asians,

Native Americans, whites, and people of “some other races alone” and developed bell curves to demonstrate standard deviations. (Def. B-2 (total population); Def. B-3 (African American population); Def. B-5 (Native American population); B-6 (Asian American population); Def. B-7 (some other race population); Def. B-8 (Hispanic population); Def. B-9 (White population), Defs. D-G (bell curves for each race))(App. pp. 104-117, 119-122). Two groups were underrepresented on the jury pools: African Americans and Hispanics. The standard deviation of African Americans was discussed in Division I above.

Hispanics had a standard deviation of 7.137. They made up 2.70 percent of the jury eligible population in Lee County. (Defs. B-2 (total population), B-8 (Hispanic population); C⁴ (prison population))(App. pp. 104-105, 114-115, 118). So it would be expected that 52.35 Hispanics

⁴ Trial counsel combined the Black (Hispanic) and White (Hispanic) populations in making his calculations. (Defendant’s Remand Brief, p.4 n.12)(App. p. 88).

would be part of the jury pool. However, only 42 jurors identified as Hispanic. (Attachment H (race records))(App. pp. 163-192). This was a 1.5 standard deviation outside expected number. Thus, Hispanics were being underrepresented according to Lilly. (Def. F (Hispanics bell curve))(App. p. 121). Asian Americans, Native Americans, Whites, and other races all had more jurors than expected. (Defendant's Remand Brief, pp.7-8)(App. pp. 91-92).

So what is the difference between the two groups that affects their participation in the jury process? A review of the various census data shows economics is the cause of the racial disparities between the different groups. The system is not racist per se, but the lists from which the jury pools are drawn fail to reach those of lower incomes. In turn, racial groups that fall disproportionately in the lower incomes are not participating in the jury pools. The 2017 per capita incomes were:

<u>Race</u>	<u>per capita income past 12 months</u>
African Americans	\$ 13,586
Hispanics	\$ 21,558
Whites	\$ 24,854
Asians	\$ 56,072

(Defs. H-1 (African Americans' income), H-2 (Hispanics' income), H-3 (Whites' income), H-4 (Asians' income))(App. pp. 123-126).

The incomes falls almost in the same order as the standard deviations of each racial group in their jury pool appearances, except Asians do not have as much a positive standard deviations as whites. African Americans were almost two standard deviations below the one standard deviation from the mean. (Def. D (African Americans bell curve))(App. p. 119). Hispanics were half a standard deviation below one standard deviation. (Def. E (Hispanics bell curve))(App. p. 120). Asians were not quite one standard deviation above one standard deviation. (Def. F (Asians bell

curve))(App. p. 121). Finally, the standard deviation for whites was five deviations above one deviation. (Def. G (Whites bell curve))(App. p. 122).

There are similar results when looking at the household incomes for these four racial groups. Out of 301 African American households over one third have an income of less than \$10,000. (Def. J-1 (African American household incomes))(App. pp. 127-128). There were no African American households earning more than \$75,000. Id. Hispanic household income ranged from \$0 to \$124,999. ((Def. J-2 (Hispanics' household income))(App. pp. 129-130). Both these groups failed to meet the desired deviations for the jury pools. However, Whites and Asians had more people than expected on the jury pools. Their household incomes also reflected higher incomes. Twenty out of 76 Asian households had incomes over \$200,000. Over half of all Asian households earn \$50,000 to \$79,999. (Def. J-4 (Asian household incomes))(App. pp. 133-134). White households

had a range of incomes. Notably, almost half of the White households had an income of over \$50,000. (Def. J-3 (White household incomes))(App. pp. 131-132).

A review at the poverty level data from the census revealed that African Americans overwhelmingly lived at higher poverty rate than other races. Almost 46 percent of African Americans over 18 years of age lived in poverty in Lee County. (Def. K-1 (African American poverty status))(App. pp. 135-136). Hispanics, Whites, Asians fared much better. Hispanics only had a six percent poverty rate for those 18 and over. (Def. K-2 (Hispanic poverty status))(App. pp. 137-138). Whites had a 13 percent poverty rate. (Def. K-3 (White poverty status))(App. pp. 139-140). And Asians had not quite a three percent poverty rate. (Def. K-4 (Asian poverty status))(App. pp. 141-142).

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