IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 20-0617

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

KENNETH L. LILLY,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR NORTH LEE COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE MARY ANN BROWN, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

CLINTON BODDICKER  
Lee County Attorney

ANDREW PROSSER  
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

Lilly seems to recognize this, because he “asks the court to reconsider its holding in *Lilly* requiring the defendant to show the underrepresentation was caused by some aspect of the system.” See Def’s Br. at 32 (citing *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 306). That would be a profound change in the law, and it would make it impossible to bring any criminal defendant to trial in any Iowa county, until we succeed in eradicating every kind of disparity that directly or indirectly affects willingness to participate in jury service—if that is even possible. See *Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 307 (“We are reluctant to impose an open-ended obligation on lower courts to follow unspecified ‘known best practices,’ whatever those best practices may turn out to be.”). Researchers have found that, even after controlling for income, age, prior jury service, and a wide variety of other factors, African-American identity made a respondent’s willingness to serve on a jury decline by about 60%.

. . . The race effect is consistent with a broader pattern of results showing that African Americans experience less support for and a greater sense of alienation from the legal system (e.g., Hagan, Payne, and Shedd 2005), including, apparently, greater reservations about serving as a decision maker. Consistent with past research looking at people who have served (Shuman and Hamilton 1992; Rose 2005; Denver 2011), the lower level of willingness to serve among African Americans in these data survives controls for past experience on a jury, and it was unique to African Americans (i.e., Hispanics did not differ from whites in the final model).

See Mark A. Musick et al., *Much Obligated: Volunteering, Normative Activities, and Willingness to Serve on Juries*, 40 L. & SOC. INQUIRY 433, 442–52 & tbl.3, 457 (2015). Other researchers found “evidence that African-Americans and Latinos fail to respond to jury summons at a disproportional rate,” and attributed that finding to a correlation between low income and lower response rates. See Nina W. Chernoff, *Black to the Future: The State Action Doctrine and the White Jury*, 58 WASHBURN L. J. 103, 123–24 (2019) (“[W]hen income is controlled for, the response rate for African-Americans and Latinos is the same as whites.”); accord Hannaford-Agor, *Systematic Negligence*, 59 DRAKE L. REV. at 774 & n.71 (summarizing results of 1998 study that determined that “a low-income white person was just as likely as a low-income black person to fail to appear for jury service,” although it still “found a significant attitudinal difference regarding jury service between blacks and whites” that still persisted even “when education, income, and jurisdiction were controlled”). Each individual person makes their own decision about how to respond to a jury summons, and there will always be economic, social, and psychological factors that affect each recipient’s decision. Patterns in response rates that emerge from those choices are neither “systematic” nor “exclusion.”

In addition to being foreclosed by Iowa precedent and being a bad idea on the merits, Lilly’s call to discard the requirement of proof of causation for systematic exclusion is foreclosed by law of the case. *See State v. Ragland*, 812 N.W.2d 654, 658 (Iowa 2012) (quoting *Bahl v. City of Asbury*, 725 N.W.2d 317, 321 (Iowa 2006)) (“[A]n appellate decision becomes the law of the case and is controlling on both the trial court and on any further appeals in the same case.”); *accord State v. Grosvenor*, 402 N.W.2d 402, 405 (Iowa 1987). In its decision that resolved Lilly’s direct appeal, the Iowa Supreme Court held that a claim under Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution *does* require proof of causation on prong #3, to establish that some feature of the jury selection process or jury management system is the actual cause of observed underrepresentation. *See Lilly*, 930 N.W.2d at 305–08. Even if that were wrong on the merits, it would be binding in this case. *See State v. Cromer*, 765 N.W.2d 1, 7 n.4 (Iowa 2009) (explaining that decision of Iowa Court of Appeals in prior appeal was incorrect when it held that error had not been preserved for a particular claim during the trial proceedings, but that “[n]evertheless, this ruling became the law of the case on remand, whether the ruling was right or wrong.”). Lilly needed to carry that burden on remand, and he did not do that.

Lilly simply assumes that the reason why African-Americans appear to be underrepresented on jury pools in North Lee County is that they are not selected, because they are not on these source lists—but Lilly has done nothing to prove this, nor has he shown that this is a better explanation for any apparent pattern of underrepresentation than any competing explanation (and there are plenty). This case was remanded to grant Lilly that opportunity to develop a factual record to prove systematic exclusion, and he failed to do that. It was correct to deny this challenge on prong #3, because Lilly failed to establish that any underrepresentation is the result of systematic exclusion.

Both Lilly and the NAACP end their briefs by arguing that the State has waived its opportunity to argue that a government interest justifies the use of these source lists, notwithstanding any effect that qualifies as systematic exclusion. *See* Def's Br. at 32–33; Amicus Br. at 44–45. But the State did make the argument that adding new lists after the de-duplication process would reintroduce duplicates, and would exacerbate sampling problems if the extra lists are likely to overrepresent certain groups—especially if they are lists that would only include head of household, which can introduce a gender bias. *See* RemandTr. 78:12–79:7; *accord* Ruling (4/7/20) at 7–8; App. 203

(rejecting Lilly’s argument for adding new source lists at local level because “[t]here must be some uniformity across the state of Iowa on how jury pools are created,” and warning that “[b]ias and prejudice could result from a single judge making his or her own decision on what lists should be used”). Moreover, it is absurd to argue that the State has waived its opportunity to respond to proof of exclusion that was never presented. If Lilly had presented actual evidence that could establish systematic exclusion, the State could have responded—but that did not happen. The State had nothing but an argument about an apparent correlation to respond to; it is incorrect to claim that it has waived any responses to proof of causation that was never offered.

**B. Lilly cannot show that the level of representation of African-Americans on his jury pool was unfair or unreasonable in relation to the prevalence of African-Americans in the jury-eligible population of North Lee County.**

Prong #2 involves math. The math is made harder because this trial happened in North Lee County. The first step is to determine the prevalence of African-Americans among the jury-eligible population from which the jury pool was drawn. Obtaining accurate numbers for North Lee County is difficult. Population data exists for Lee County, but that does not reflect *North* Lee County; only residents who live in

the northern part of Lee County, including the city of Fort Madison, are eligible for jury service at the courthouse in North Lee County. Residents of the remaining area (including Keokuk) are only eligible for jury service at the courthouse in South Lee County. *See Froman*, 755 N.W.2d at 531; *see also State v. Morgan*, 559 N.W.2d 603, 609 (Iowa 1997). On remand, the State's suggestion was to use data for Lee County (with a population of about 27,000) and then subtract Keokuk (which has a population of about 10,000). While imperfect, this gets closer to approximating the population of North Lee County, which only includes Fort Madison (with a population around 10,000) and the surrounding rural area. And it matters, because Keokuk has a disproportionately high concentration of African-American residents, so including Keokuk would generate unrealistically high expectations for levels of African-American representation on jury pools that are drawn from North Lee County. *See Ruling (4/7/20)* at 6; App. 202. That is why Lilly objects to removing Keokuk from this calculation:

Lilly submits that such calculation would be too arbitrary and skewed. Assuming a greater number of African American live in the urban areas such a Keokuk, the State's proposal fails to account for the higher population of whites in the rural areas. The State offered to double the percentage of African Americans but that is still an arbitrary number without any basis.

Def's Br. at 18. But the jury manager testified that Keokuk residents are never drawn for jury service in North Lee County. *See* RemandTr. 42:12–43:20. They should not be included in the calculation.

It is probably true that there is a “higher population of whites in the rural areas” of South Lee County that are still part of the adjusted population figure, after starting with all of Lee County and removing Keokuk. *See* Def's Br. at 18. The State acknowledged that critique, and it suggested an assumption to over-correct for that: assume that half of all remaining Lee County residents lived in rural South Lee County, and assume that *none* of those people were African-American. That assumption would take the percentage of “Lee County minus Keokuk” that is African-American, and double it. *See* RemandTr. 86:22–88:18; RemandTr. 97:23–99:11. That assumption is implausibly generous, because it assumes that rural areas of South Lee County do not have *any* African-American residents, and because Fort Madison accounts for more than half of the remaining population of Lee County after removing Keokuk (so whatever amount of people *should* be excluded as residents of rural South Lee County, it is less than half of the total). Still, this can help to show that no further analysis is necessary: if the claim still fails, then it cannot succeed under any plausible parameter.

Here are the State’s calculations. They have changed slightly from the calculations described in its filings and argument on remand to remove non-citizen residents (none of whom are African-American).

<b>TABLE 1</b>	African-American residents	All residents
Total population in all of Lee County	872	34,785
-(people under 18)	-166	-7,524
-(non-citizen adults)	-0	-133
-(inmates in prison in Fort Madison)	-285	-700
-(adult citizens who live in Keokuk)	-343	-7,695
Adult citizens who live in Lee County, but not in Keokuk	78	18,733

*See RemandTr. 86:15–87:17; see also Remand Ex. A; App. 99; Remand Ex. B; App. 101; Remand Ex. K; App. 193; Remand Brief (1/21/20) at 5–6; App. 67–68. A distinctive group of 78 people is only 0.416% of a population of 18,733. If doubled, that would be 0.832%.*

The State objected to using the aggregated jury pool data from the last five years of jury pools in North Lee County. But even using that aggregated data, with these numbers, the State would prevail:

<b>TABLE 2</b>	Using 0.416%	Using 0.832%
Expected presence in sample of 1,939	8.066 people	16.132 people
Standard deviation	2.834	4.000
Difference between actual presence (14) and expected presence	+5.934 people (overrepresentative)	-2.132 people
...that result divided by standard deviation	+2.094 (overrepresentative)	-0.533

See RemandTr. 88:24–89:2; Ruling (4/7/20) at 6–7; App. 202. This is the mathematical analysis that the district court performed, and it is correct. Even after making that implausibly generous assumption in calculating the parameter, the actual amount of African-Americans who were included on jury pools over five years in North Lee County was within one standard deviation of the expected value.<sup>2</sup>

This is the end of the analysis of Lilly’s arguments on prong #2. Error was not preserved for any of the new claims beyond this point, including the NAACP’s proposals that would inflate the parameter.

---

<sup>2</sup> To establish a violation of prong #2 with that aggregated data, Lilly would need African-Americans to comprise at least 0.941% of the jury-eligible population. To calculate that, plug the observed level of representation (14) and the sample size (1939) into the equation for Z-score, set the Z-score to -1, and solve for P. See WOLFRAMALPHA, [https://www.wolframalpha.com/input/?i=-1+%3D+%2814-P\\*1939%29%2F%E2%88%9A%281939\\*P%281-P%29%29](https://www.wolframalpha.com/input/?i=-1+%3D+%2814-P*1939%29%2F%E2%88%9A%281939*P%281-P%29%29).

Hypothetically, if Lilly showed that African-Americans made up a greater portion of the jury-eligible population of North Lee County, then using five years of aggregated data *could* enable Lilly to prevail on prong #2. The State preserved error on its argument against using aggregated data when the actual jury pool is already adequate to assess whether fair and reasonable expectations of minority representation were met, along with its proposal for how to aggregate data when the jury pool and the group's presence in the jury-eligible population are too small to give rise to expectations of representation in that pool. *See* Remand Brief (1/21/20) at 11–19; App. 73–81; RemandTr. 79:25–85:18; *DeVoss*, 648 N.W.2d at 61–63. Because Lilly alleged that any apparent underrepresentation of African-Americans was the result of their disproportionate absence from the source lists that were used to select eligible residents for jury service, the analysis should focus on the group of people who were selected for jury service and responded to the jury questionnaire (as opposed to analyzing the smaller group of people who actually appeared on the morning of trial). *See State v. Williams*, 929 N.W.2d 621, 630 (Iowa 2019). 125 names were drawn for jury service. Of those, 75 people returned jury questionnaires and were able to serve. *See* RemandTr. 26:2–28:17; *cf.* Remand Ex. C & D;

C-App. 4-88. One of those people listed their race as “black/white.” *See* Remand Ex. D at 12; App. 73.<sup>3</sup> Even assuming that none of the potential jurors who did not mark their race were African-American, a jury pool with one African-American person out of 75 respondents cannot be unfair or unreasonable, unless African-Americans comprise more than 3.437% of the relevant jury-eligible population.<sup>4</sup>

The NAACP’s brief proposes adjustments to population data to include multi-racial residents who are also African-American. *See* Amicus Br. at 16–30. As the NAACP points out, the State’s brief in *State v. Veal* did include a similar attempt to adjust population data to include mixed-race residents who are African-American, by calculating the percentage of all single-category racial minorities in that county who were African-American, and assuming that a similar portion of the county’s multi-racial residents were also African-American. *See*

---

<sup>3</sup> Another person listed their race as “mix,” but it is not clear whether this person was African-American. *See* Remand Ex. D at 13; C-App. 74. Even counting this juror as some other race, this jury pool is not underrepresentative, so it is unnecessary to speculate.

<sup>4</sup> Again, this can be calculated by plugging the observed level of representation (1) and the sample size (75) into the Z-score equation, setting Z-score to -1, and then solving for P. *See* WOLFRAMALPHA, [https://www.wolframalpha.com/input/?i=-1+%3D+%281-P\\*75%29%2F%E2%88%9A%2875\\*P+%281-P%29%29](https://www.wolframalpha.com/input/?i=-1+%3D+%281-P*75%29%2F%E2%88%9A%2875*P+%281-P%29%29).

Amicus Br. at 15 (citing *Veal*, No. 17–1453, State’s Br. at 31). That adjustment still makes sense as a way to include African-Americans who are multi-racial; they may be part of the same “distinctive group” for purposes of a fair-cross-section challenge, even though they are categorized differently in census data. *See, e.g., United States v. Green*, 435 F.3d 1265, 1271 (10th Cir. 2006) (describing multi-factor test for determining if a group is “distinctive” under *Duren*, which includes considering whether “the group has a definite composition such as race or sex” and whether “a common thread or basic similarity in attitude, idea, or experience runs through the group”).

Of course, this depends on the “distinctive group” that is identified in the allegation of underrepresentation and exclusion—none of the data that Lilly used to argue his claim (like per-capita income or poverty status) included multi-racial African-Americans. *See* Def’s Remand Ex. E–N; App. 120–62. And Lilly never argued that multi-racial African-Americans were being omitted from calculations. Error was not preserved for any claim of error that alleges that the district court should have adjusted population figures to add some percentage of multi-racial people to its count of African-Americans. *See State v. Krogmann*, 804 N.W.2d 518, 523 (Iowa 2011).

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